
 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services (01254) 380116/380109/380184 
Email: memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 6 January 2021 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Council 
 
Thursday, 14 January 2021 at 7.00 pm, 
Virtual Meeting to be livestreamed on You Tube 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor June Harrison (Mayor) in the Chair,  
Councillors Judith Addison, Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Jean Battle MBE, 
Sara Britcliffe MP, Stephen Button, Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, 
Stewart Eaves, Diane Fielding, Melissa Fisher, Glen Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Eamonn Higgins, 
Terry Hurn, Abdul Khan, Chris Knight, Patrick McGinley, Michael Miller, Jenny Molineux, 
Tim O'Kane, Dave Parkins, Bernadette Parkinson, Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, 
Kath Pratt, Jeff Scales, Paddy Short and Kate Walsh 
 
Separate joining instructions will be issued directly to Members. 
 
The meeting may be viewed by the public and press using Hyndburn Borough Council’s Public 
Meetings page on You Tube, which can be accessed directly via the host’s website, or by using the 
following link:- 
 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=SelgMkt4Yho 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Announcements   
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=SelgMkt4Yho


Page 2 of 3 

 

a) Mayor 
 
b) Leader of the Council 
 
c) Chief Executive 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes  (Pages 5 - 18) 
 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the Council meeting held on 19th November 
2020 (attached). 
 

5.   Question Time   
 
To deal with* any questions submitted under Council Procedure Rule A2.2(vi). 
 
* In accordance with Section 11 of the Remote Meetings Procedure Rules, this Item will 
last up to 10 minutes. 
 

6.   Urgent Decisions Taken   
 
To receive a report on decisions taken under Council Procedure Rule A24, the Council 
Urgency Procedure.  The following decisions were taken:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Date of Approval 

(a) To rescind the decision of the Judicial Committee 
made on 25th November 2020 in respect of a private 
hire driver's licence, in the light of new information, to 
enable a differently constituted committee to be 
formed to hear the matter afresh.  (NB. The urgent 
decision report is confidential) 

15th December 2020 

 

7.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 19 - 42) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 11th November and 9th December 
2020 (attached). 
 
Rules of Debate 



 The Leader of the Council will move the Minutes, the Deputy Leader of the 
Council will second the Minutes. 

 Non-executive Members will be invited to make comments or ask questions on 
the Minutes (5 Minutes*). 

 Cabinet Members will be invited to make comments and respond to any points 
raised (5 Minutes*). 

 The Leader of the Council will be given up to 10 Minutes* to respond and to 
answer any questions raised. 

 
* In accordance with Section 11 of the Remote Meetings Procedure Rules, discussion on 
the minutes will last for up to 10 minutes and any questions that cannot be answered 
within that time will receive a written response. 



Page 3 of 3 

 

 

8.   Minutes of Committees  (Pages 43 - 46) 
 
To receive the Minutes of committees, as set out below: 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will introduce the Minutes as a whole. 

 Any Member may raise any issue from the Minutes; the Chair of the relevant 
Committee may respond (5 Minutes*). 

 The Leader of the Council will close the debate (5 Minutes*). 
 
* In accordance with Section 11 of the Remote Meetings Procedure Rules, discussion on 
the minutes will last for up to 10 minutes and any questions that cannot be answered 
within that time will receive a written response. 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2020/21) Date 

Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage 
Licensing) 

25th November 2020 

 

9.   Motion(s) submitted on Notice  (Pages 47 - 50) 
 
To consider any Motions for debate in accordance with Council Procedure Rule A9, as 
amended by Section 10 of the Remote Meetings Procedure Rules. 
 

 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 
Scaitcliffe House, 
Ormerod Street, 
ACCRINGTON BB5 OPF 
 
Wednesday, 6 January 2021 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Thursday, 19th November, 2020 

 
This was a virtual meeting held using MS Teams and streamed live on You Tube 

 
Present:  Councillor June Harrison (Mayor), Councillors Judith Addison, Josh Allen, 

Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Jean Battle MBE, Sara Britcliffe MP, 
Stephen Button, Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, 
Munsif Dad BEM JP, Stewart Eaves, Diane Fielding, Melissa Fisher, 
Glen Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn, 
Abdul Khan, Chris Knight, Patrick McGinley, Michael Miller, 
Jenny Molineux, Tim O'Kane, Dave Parkins, Bernadette Parkinson, 
Miles Parkinson OBE, Kath Pratt, Jeff Scales, Paddy Short and 
Kate Walsh 
 

Apologies: Councillors Joyce Plummer 

  

 
On behalf of the Mayor, Mr David Welsby, Chief Executive of the Council, welcomed 
everybody to the second virtual meeting of the Council. 
 
The Executive Director Legal and Democratic Services carried out a roll call of those 
present.  All councillors introduced themselves and identified the ward that they served.  
(Attendance is recorded above). 

 
47 Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Joyce Plummer. 
 

48 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 6 – Review of 
Leisure Services Provision, in the light of his position as a member of Hyndburn Leisure 
Trust’s Board. 
 
There were no dispensations notified. 
 

49 Announcements 
 
The Mayor announced that since the last Council meeting coronavirus had surged in the 
Borough and nationally and the country had found itself in a second lockdown.  But 
hopefully good news was now on the horizon. 
 
1) Sad News 

 
The Mayor expressed her heartfelt sympathies to the Mayoress, her close friend Councillor 
Joyce Plummer, whose husband, Vincent, had sadly passed away last week.  The thoughts 
and prayers of the Council members were with her and her family at this difficult time. 
 
The Mayor also mentioned the sad passing of Mr David Cross of Clayton-le-Moors, who 
had died a fortnight ago shortly after the death of his wife.  David had been a stalwart of the 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

community and in March 2015 the Council had presented him with its Ruby Award for 
services to the area. 
 
Mr Welsby added his condolences to the family of Scott Gardner, a former colleague and 
Head of IT Services, who had passed away last week. 
 
2) Update on the COVID-19 Pandemic 

 
The Chief Executive of the Council, David Welsby, provided an update on the impact of 
COVID-19 on the Borough. 
 
The second national lockdown was due to end on 2 December 2020.  The public had coped 
marvellously and come together since the start of the pandemic.  It was critical that 
everyone continued to do so.  The vaccine was close.  Hard work had been undertaken by 
all to get to this stage, including NHS, Council staff and volunteers.  The message was now 
to stay safe in the hope that families could be together shortly. 
 
An overview of facts and figures was provided. 
 
The approximate total numbers of cases of infection were as follows:- 
 

UK 1.4M 

Lancashire 56,000 

Hyndburn 3,300 

 
Total infection rates per 100k population were as follows:- 
 

England 2,153 

NW 3,800 

 
The infection had led to the following loss of life within 28 days of a COVID positive 
diagnosis:- 
 

UK 52,745 

England 46,301 

Lancashire 1,669 

Hyndburn 79 

 
Of those persons who had sadly died, the following locations were noted:- 
 

Hospitals 66% 

Care homes 21% 

Home 10% 

Hospices 3% 

 
The death rates per 100k population were as follows:- 
 

UK 82.3 

Hyndburn 97.5 

 
Hyndburn was below the Lancashire average death rate and significantly below some 
districts, including Wyre, Fylde, Blackpool and West Lancashire.  Some of the highest death 
rates were in the range 130-160/100k. 
 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

The pandemic had followed a distinct pattern.  The first wave had hit from last March to 
mid-April 2020, during which time hospitalisation and deaths had reached a peak.  There 
had followed a brief respite in the North West.  By July, people had been able to socialise 
outside.  However, infection had then started to grow in the North West.   Hyndburn had 
moved from a position of 132/100k announced at the last Council meeting in September, to 
a peak of around 550/100k on 24 October 2020, with figures doubling every week at one 
stage. 
 
The case rate had now started on a steady decline.  This was mirrored in Lancashire and 
the North West too.  The North West was no longer the fastest growing region for 
infections, nor did it have the highest prevalence.  However, local hospitals had not yet 
witnessed any easing of demand.  Occupancy today was higher than during the first wave, 
at around double those numbers.  Hopefully this situation would change in the near future. 
 
While Hyndburn and Lancashire were starting to get better, the national picture was 
different.  The infection rate in England was growing.  At the last Council meeting the 
England average had been 33/100k.  It was now at 264/100k.  A Public Health England 
(PHE) report last week had identified an 11% rise in cases of infection across England, a 
13% rise in hospitalisation and a 22% rise in COVID related deaths.  The picture was 
expected to change, but there was always a lag between infection, hospitalisation and 
deaths. 
 
Test and Trace had been rolled out.  At the last meeting 3 hour waiting times at the testing 
facilities had been reported and the fact that some people had been turned away.  This 
situation had now improved, as supply now exceeded demand.  The Mobile Testing Unit 
(MTU) was still available and a Local Testing Site (LTS) had been provided on the Dowry 
Street Car Park, in Accrington.  The LTS operated from 8am to 8pm, 7 days per week.  
Recent test figures showed a positivity rate of 13%.  This compared with the England 
average of 9%. 
 
Local Contact Tracing was now successfully reaching 75% of all contacts within 2 days of 
them being referred from the national NHS system.  There was still some room for 
improvement, but the direction of travel was positive. 
 
Thanks was expressed for the efforts of all key workers, volunteers and the Council’s own 
staff. 
 
In summary, Lancashire still had a higher case rate than when it entered Tier 3 restrictions 
in October.  However, vaccines were now at an advanced stage of development.  A 
network of vaccination sites had already been identified across the county and a mobile 
service would be rolled to the care sector and the housebound.  This would be a massive 
logistical operation. 
 
Councillors Jenny Molineux, Marlene Haworth and Stewart Eaves made a number of 
comments including the following:- 
 

 Reiterating thanks to Council staff, key workers, NHS and social care workers and 

volunteers, who had continued to provide essential services; 

 Thanks to the residents of Hyndburn for their perseverance; 

 Acknowledgement of the challenges facing young people and schools at this time; 

 Noting the challenges facing babies and new parents, who were unable to access 

the usual support groups; 

 A reminder about the current campaign: 'Wash Hands. Cover Face. Make Space'; 

 Thanks to the Council’s senior management for their leadership; 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 Acknowledgment that the latest local figures were encouraging, but that there was a 

need to remain vigilant and to follow the rules; 

 Optimism for some relaxation of the rues at Christmas; 

 Some criticism of the Government’s handling of the Test and Trace system, loss of 

data, unwillingness to follow scientific advice in a timely manner and the way in 

which PPE contracts had been awarded; and 

 Optimism that the roll out of the vaccines would rid the world of premature deaths.  

 
50 Confirmation of Minutes 

 
The minutes of the Council meeting held on 17th September 2020 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes of the Council meeting held on 17th 

September 2020 be approved as a correct record. 
 

51 Question Time 
 
The Mayor reported that no questions had been submitted under this Agenda Item. 
 

52 Review of Leisure Services Provision 
 
Lyndsey Sims, Chief Executive, Hyndburn Leisure, provided a presentation on a review of 
leisure services provision.  The review would determine the long term vision for the leisure 
service estate. 
 
This would be a 2 year process and would look at the Trust’s facilities, comprising 
Hyndburn Leisure Centre, Mercer Hall Leisure Centre and Wilsons Athletics Pavilion.  The 
Council, Sport England and users would be involved in the review, which would ensure that 
the facilities were fit for purpose.  The result should see a high impact on the health and 
wellbeing of the Borough’s residents. 
 
This was against a background of a difficult year for the service.   However, physical activity 
was good for individuals and the Local Government Association had identified leisure 
provision as a key part of the recovery process from the pandemic. 
 
The presentation included detailed slides on the following:- 
 

 Background; 

 Hyndburn Leisure’s history and role; 

 The Trust’s goals; 

 Review process and strategic priorities; 

 Sport England strategic outcomes planning model approach; 

 Progress to date; 

 Consultation themes; 

 Opportunity for investment from the public sector decarbonisation scheme; 

 Current indications across the 3 sites; and 

 Next Steps. 

 
Councillors Noordad Aziz, Terry Hurn, Kate Walsh, Judith Addison, Munsif Dad BEM JP, 
Patrick McGinley, Glen Harrison, and the Mayor made a number of comments on the 
proposals.  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, thanked Ms Sims for 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

her presentation.  He also thanked the Trust Board, who were all volunteers, for their work.  
They had delivered much and put the Trust on a sustainable financial path.  Due to the 
Trust’s hard work, the organisation should have operated well within its grant this year, but 
COVID-19 had caused an unexpected loss of ground in financial terms. 
 
Before COVID-19 had surfaced, health inequalities, obesity and life expectancy issues had 
been high priorities for the Council and the Trust. 
 
The Leader looked forward to a further update in February 2021.  It was acknowledged that 
residents might have become attached to their existing facilities, but the Trust would need 
to look at the bigger picture for the future of the service.  The primary goal was to secure 
better health outcomes for all, with less inequalities in the community.  The Leader was 
confident that Ms Sims and the Board would drive forward that agenda.  
 
Mr Welsby also thanked Ms Sims for her on-going work as the lead officer for the Hyndburn 
Hub. 
 
Resolved - That the presentation on the review of leisure 

services provision be noted. 
 

53 Urgent Decisions Taken 
 
Members considered a report on the following decisions taken under Council Procedure 
Rule A24, the Council Urgency Procedure:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Date of Approval 

(a) Temporary amendments to the scheme of delegation – 
Response to the coronavirus outbreak 

25th March 2020 

(b) Proposed temporary amendment to the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules 

26th March 2020 

(c) A membership change to the appointments of Planning 
Committee 

27th April 2020 

(d) A Labour membership change to Planning Committee 20th May 2020 

(e) Change to Chairmanship of Resources Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

29th May 2020 

(f) Change to Vice-Chair of Resources Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

2nd June 2020 

(g) Changes to Audit Committee and Planning Committee Member 
Appointments 

10th June 2020 

(h) New procedure rules for virtual meetings and member 
attendance at meetings 

23rd June 2020 

(i) Pay Policy 2020-2021 29th June 2020 

(j) Pavement Café Licensing – Business and Planning Act 2020 24th July 2020 

(k) Amendment to the Council’s Scheme of Delegation – 
implementation of legislation and regulations relating to the 
Covid 19 pandemic 

1st October 2020 

(l) Approval of the COVID-19 Test and Trace Support Scheme. 9th October 2020 

(m) Proposed amendment to the Council’s Remote Meetings 
Procedure Rules 

16th October 2020 

(n) Approval of the National Non Domestic Rates Relief Schemes 
for 2020/21 – Coronavirus relief schemes provided by 
Government, managed and allocated by local authorities. 

23rd October 2020 

(o) Approval of the Council Tax Exceptional Hardship Scheme 
COVID-19 Fund appendix to the Council Tax Hardship 

23rd October 2020 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

Scheme 2018 

(p) Amendment to the Council’s Scheme of Delegation – 
delegations to the newly created Head Of Environmental 
Health role 

2nd November 2020 

 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

54 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meetings of Cabinet held on 15th January, 12th February and 21st 
October 2020 were submitted. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth referred to Minute 214 - Accrington Indoor Market Hall 
Redevelopment, from the minutes of 15th January 2020.  She indicated that she had been 
present at that meeting and had raised some concerns about the food court aspect of the 
proposals.  She queried whether the appointment of the Dawnvale Group as the design / 
project manager should have been by a tender exercise. 
 
Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council, clarified that the proposals were for a 
social hub, which would incorporate multiple food and drink outlets.  Dawnvale would 
provide the outline plan and had experience of similar projects across NW England, in 
towns with a similar demographic to Hyndburn. 
 
It was acknowledged that when these proposals had first been mooted, times were very 
different.  The ideas were now on hold due to the pandemic.  Existing tenants were being 
encouraged to come back into the Market Hall.  Regular meetings also took place with 
traders to listen to their views and to reach a consensus about improvements.  Councillor 
Haworth would be welcome to attend those meetings. 
 
Approval had been given recently to remove some of the outdoor pavilions, but it had now 
been decided to undertake this in a phased way. 
 
The Leader of the Council congratulated the Deputy Leader on the positive approach.  
There was consensus to move forward with improvement and the Council continued to 
listen to its tenants and to support them, particularly through these difficult times.  
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

55 Minutes of Committees 
 
The Minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2019/20) 
 

Date 

Planning Committee  25th November 2019 

Overview and Scrutiny Resources 18th December 2019 

Licensing Sub 13th January 2020 

Planning Committee 22nd January 2020 

Standards 6th February 2020 

Overview and Scrutiny Resources 6th February 2020 

Overview and Scrutiny Resources 18th February 2020 

Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) 24th February 2020 

Planning Committee 26th February 2020 

Management Review Committee 2nd March 2020 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Licensing) 4th March 2020 

Audit Committee 9th March 2020 

Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Licensing) 18th March 2020 

 
The Leader of the Council commented that many services, including committee meetings, 
were now being rolled out within the digital environment.  He thanked all those responsible 
for facilitating virtual meetings and other digital services. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

56 Motions submitted on Notice 
 
1) Notice Submitted on Motion – Local Bank Branches 

 
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Noordad Aziz and seconded by 
Councillor Bernadette Parkinson under Council Procedure Rule A9:- 
 
“Since the Banking Crisis in 2009, one of the consequences has been the closure of many 
high street branches of banks across the country, especially in small towns and villages like 
Great Harwood, Clayton and Rishton. 
 
This has impacted on elderly residents having access to banking services, such as 
depositing and withdrawing monies. 
 
With the advent of Royal Mail privatisation it has led to the withdrawal and reduction of the 
availability of different banking services through the Post Office.  In addition, recent 
changes announced by Royal Mail will lead to the Post Office shutting 600 free to use cash 
machines, adding further restrictions in accessing to cash and a further blow to the high 
street. 
 
This Council resolves to write to the communities minister to ask him how this Government 
will address the issue of residents not being able to access banking services without 

travelling to a different town.” 
 
Councillors Sara Britcliffe MP, Bernadette Parkinson, Jenny Molineux and Tim O’Kane 
spoke in favour of the motion.  Issues raised included the following:- 
 

 People relied on access to cash locally; 

 Getting out helped to tackle loneliness and other health issues; 

 The MP had spoken to Government colleague on this; 

 Each bank took its own commercial decisions; 

 The Minister for the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) 

might be a more appropriate recipient for any correspondence on this matter; 

 Branches were important for small traders too; 

 The Government was supportive of the Post Office, which was a separate business 

entity from Royal Mail; 

 The MP undertook to follow up this matter and to listen to any specific concerns; 

 Local bank branches supported the elderly and disabled people to lead independent 

lives, without them having to rely on others for transport to neighbouring towns; 

 Talking cash machines were particularly useful for blind and partially-sighted 

persons, but were not widespread; and 

 Future planning developments should consider how easy it was to access local 

services. 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

 
Councillor Noordad Aziz summed up by saying that small towns and rural communities had 
been particularly badly affected by recent changes.  A Government level solution was 
required to address the issue. 
 
After the debate, the motion was put to the vote and declared carried. 
 
Resolved - That this Council resolves to write to the Secretary 

of State for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government to ask him how this Government will 
address the issue of residents not being able to 
access banking services without travelling to a 
different town. 

 
2) Notice Submitted on Motion – Fly Tipping, Dog Fouling and Littering 

 
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Josh Allen and seconded by Councillor 
Judith Addison under Council Procedure Rule A9:- 
 
“Fly tipping, dog fouling and littering are a blight on communities across Hyndburn - where a 
small minority of people show a complete disregard for local residents and the environment 
by dumping waste in beauty spots and in residential areas. 
 
Ensuring that the people who disrespect our towns, villages and countryside in this way are 
brought to account should be a priority for Hyndburn Council - making sure there is a 
deterrent to stop this completely unacceptable behaviour.  
 
Hyndburn Council has worryingly issued no fines for fly tipping during the period of July 
2019 - June 2020 and has used local taxpayers’ money to clear over 3,000 cases during 
this time.  This sends the completely wrong message to those who damage our area in this 
way, making it apparent the Council will not seek to identify and fine them.  It also tells 
residents that Hyndburn Council is not on their side in the fight to keep Hyndburn clean and 
green. 
 
We resolve to ask the Chief Executive to undertake an urgent review to understand what 
has gone wrong in this failure to hold to account fly tippers - and put in place an action plan 
to crack down on this totally unacceptable behaviour and bring the offenders to account for 
their actions by taking a zero tolerance approach and issuing fines and other steps as 

needed.” 
 
Councillors Sara Britcliffe MP, Judith Addison and Patrick McGinley spoke in favour of the 
motion.  Councillor Paul Cox, Noordad Aziz, Tim O’Kane, Loraine Cox, Miles Parkinson 
OBE, Glen Harrison and Dave Parkins spoke against the motion in the form currently 
presented.  Issues raised included the following:- 
 

 The accuracy of the figures quoted in the motion was challenged.  17 cases of fly 

tipping had been taken further.  The 3,000 cases mentioned were mostly side-waste 

bags left out on collection day, not fly tipping; 

 Enforcement work had to be suspended during lockdown to prioritise frontline 

services.  Significant extra waste had been collected over this period, as many 

residents were based at home; 

 Some Waste Services staff had also been redeployed to support the work of the 

Hyndburn Hub; 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 Services had been maintained against a backdrop of 40% Council Budget cuts 

since 2011; 

 The County Council had closed its Waste Recycling Centres for a significant period 

of time during lockdown, which had impacted on the Borough; 

 It was hoped shortly to launch the wider use of Public Space Protection Orders to 

tackle blight in a more holistic way; 

 A zero tolerance approach would be taken and the Council was already tackling key 

issues; 

 The tremendous effort of Waste Services staff was recognised, but the figures 

quoted in the motion had been supplied by officers; 

 Fly-tipping was inexcusable and had been raised by the MP both locally and at the 

national level.  The Council should be able to tackle this head-on with the use of 

Fixed Penalty Notices of up to £400 and powers to search and seize vehicles.  

Courts could impose large fines of up to £50k, or 12 months prison sentences; 

 A review of the Council’s current approach was being called for; 

 Criticism was levelled at the County Council’s decision to close the Great Harwood 

recycling centre in 2012; 

 Experience from of the use of CCTV cameras by Rhyddings Park Neighbourhood 

Watch, in preventing and investigating fly-tipping was mentioned.  The use of 

leniency if offenders made good the damage, against the cost of mounting a 

prosecution, was a difficult equation to balance.  However, a court case could act as 

a useful deterrent. 

 The issue of fly-tipping had been reviewed by cross-party Members as part of a 

Scrutiny Committee decision in November 2018 and in December 2019 and relevant 

figures had been provided, along with information about enforcement; 

 A proposal around Neighbourhood Wardens to tackle littering had not secured 

funding under the previous administration; 

 Acknowledgement that fly-tipping did blight communities.  The Council could clean 

up tipped material on its own land, but for fly-tipping on private land, the land owner 

was required to arrange for clearance of the dumped material; 

 There had been significant criticism of the approach taken by Kingdom when fining 

residents for dropping cigarette butts; 

 A view that the motion might be acceptable to all without the inclusion of Paragraph 

3 and the first half of the sentence at Paragraph 4; 

 Acknowledgment that all councillors worked hard to improve the environment; 

 The delay to reopening recycling centres by the County Council had not helped the 

situation; 

 The Council’s political administration was not against fines being imposed in 

appropriate cases; 

 Practical actions such as the installation of gates to restrict access to fly-tipping 

hotspots had proved to be effective in some areas; and 

 Councillors in some areas had lobbied successfully for extra dog litter bins, to 

improve the cleanliness of public open space. 

 
Councillor Josh Allen summed up by pointing out that fly-tipping had been raised frequently 
at Council meetings.  No criticism of the good work already undertaken had been intended 
in the motion, but it was hoped that by carrying out more enforcement this would seriously 
deter other potential wrongdoers.  Other Councils appeared to be more proactive.  Fines 
could also bring in additional revenue.  It was acknowledged that many councillors worked 
proactively to carry out individual or group litter picks. 
 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

After the debate, the motion was put to the vote and declared lost. 
 
3) Notice Submitted on Motion – Support for Community Efforts to end Holiday 

Hunger 

 
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Kate Walsh and seconded by Councillor 
Stephen Button under Council Procedure Rule A9:- 
 
“That this Council: 

 

Recognises the amazing community commitment to providing lunch packs to hungry 

children during the recent half term break.  Over 6,000 lunches were handed out to children 

by community groups; 

 

Wishes to place on record the Council’s thanks to all those individuals who have ensured 

that many vulnerable families and children suffering holiday hunger, some referred by 

statutory services have received a food parcel; 

 

Regrets the decision by MPs who voted against extending the free school meal scheme 

over the half term and Christmas holidays; 

 

Believes that that decision was a devastating blow to families who are struggling to feed 

their children who rely on the free school meals; 

 

Recognises that 2,913 children are entitled to free school meals in Hyndburn - this is almost 

a quarter of the school aged children in the Borough; 

 

Believes that ten years of Conservative cuts to the north have added to the high deprivation 

levels in Hyndburn; 

 

Will write to the Cabinet Office to raise concerns over the lack of support by the 

Government to Hyndburn Council during COVID which has left the Council and Council Tax 

payer in deficit; and that the proposals fail to support many ordinary and low paid families 

pushed into poverty.  That the Government has not gone far enough to help those families 

most in need. 

 

Applauds the efforts of Marcus Rashford MBE in tackling child poverty and holiday hunger, 

but will go further by providing the administrative support to contact all Hyndburn Schools to 

ascertain the number of pupils that each school has, so that arrangements can be made to 

offer support to those families and any family that needs support at this difficult time, so we 

can ensure all 2,913 children receive a holiday lunch pack to ensure they don’t go hungry 

this Christmas.” 

 
Councillors Noordad Aziz, Stephen Button, Tim O’Kane and Paddy Short, spoke in 
favour of the motion.  Councillor Sara Britcliffe and Marlene Haworth also spoke on 
the motion, but expressed a wish to abstain.  Issues raised included the following:- 
 

 A challenge to the MP to be a strong voice for Hyndburn and Haslingden against 

food poverty; 

 Hungry children underachieved at school, as their ability to learn was compromised; 

 Free School Meals helped to provide for the poorest in society; 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
11 

 The State had a duty to provide opportunities for all and successful children grew up 

to contribute back to society, by working in the highest paid sectors of employment; 

 Acknowledgement that the Government had recently changed its stance on support 

for holiday food for children; 

 Clarification that MPs had not voted to leave children without food over the holiday 

period, but had agreed to put in place measures worth £127k for Hyndburn to 

support those in need, not just children.  No child needed to go hungry; 

 A level of personal abuse had been directed to the MP over the funding issues, 

which was unacceptable; 

 A further allocation of Government funding would reach the County Council in 

December.  Local authorities were best placed to identify and support local need; 

 An observation that the Government appeared to have made a hasty U-turn on this 

matter in the face of public pressure; 

 Thanks to those private businesses and voluntary organisations that had stepped up 

to meet the demand for food by residents in need; 

 Criticism of comments by some MPs, as reported in the press, which appeared to 

demonise poor families; and 

 An observation that the motion no longer reflected the reality of the funding currently 

available; 

 
Councillor Kate Walsh summed up by highlighting that some families simply could not 
afford to meet all of their bills and feed themselves, but were not eligible for support.  
Experience from the Food Solutions Network showed that the funding offered would not go 
far enough. 
 
After the debate, the motion was put to the vote and declared carried. 
 
Resolved - That this Council resolves to write to the Cabinet 

Office to raise concerns over the lack of support by 

the Government to Hyndburn Council during COVID, 

which has left the Council and Council Tax payer in 

deficit; and to highlight that the current funding 

arrangements fail to support many ordinary and low 

paid families pushed into poverty. 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule A7 and with the consent of the meeting, it was 
agreed that the meeting should proceed beyond the prescribed 10pm deadline. 
 
4) Notice Submitted on Motion – Fair Distribution of Police Funding for Lancashire 

 
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Glen Harrison and seconded by 
Councillor Melissa Fisher under Council Procedure Rule A9:- 
 
“The cuts to policing in Lancashire since 2010 are far more excessive than most police 
forces in the country.  They are also part of a wider issue of the impact of cuts across the 
whole of the public sector.  
 
The Government have announced that they will put back 20,000 police officers over the 
next three years, but all is not what it seems. 
 

Page 15



 
 
 

 

 
12 

Lancashire has had amongst the highest level of cuts of any police force in the country, 
losing over 750 police officers since 2010.  But the Government are replacing just 153 of 
them.  
 
We are still missing 600 police officers. 
 
In Surrey, their police numbers are down by just 8 police officer posts since 2010.  But they 
will now have 78 new officers, almost ten times as many as they lost. 
 
Lancashire is not a second class county.  We demand a fair deal. 
 
Police officers should be returned to police forces where they’ve been lost, not to affluent 
areas with much less crime. 
 
This Council supports the petition from Police and Crime Commissioner Clive Grunshaw to 
demand a fair deal for Lancashire and get our bobbies back. 
 
This Council resolves to write to Kit Malthouse MP the Minister for policing to ask for a fairer 
allocation of police resources in Lancashire.” 
 
Councillors Noordad Aziz, Melissa Fisher and Tim O’Kane spoke in favour of the motion.  
Councillors Marlene Haworth and Sara Britcliffe MP also spoke on the motion, but 
expressed a wish to abstain.  Issues raised included the following:- 
 

 Police funding cuts had already led to the closure of the Police Station in Great 

Harwood and loss of the neighbourhood policing team that knew the area well; 

 All councillors would support the call for more Police funding, but Opposition 

Members were concerned that the tone of the motion was not constructive; 

 The MP was working from within Government to support policing in Hyndburn; 

 The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) was responsible for the allocation of 

funding within Lancashire Constabulary and should be encouraged to work with 

local MPs; 

 Comparisons between Lancashire and other Police force areas were misleading.  

For example, Lancashire had 199 FTE police officers per 100k population, whereas 

Surrey had only 161/100k. 

 Policing was a priority for all, as it kept people, businesses and the wider community 

safe; 

 At a time when there were financial constraints, hundreds of millions of pounds were 

being invested in the fight against crime; 

 Concern about the response time of police offers to a vandalism incident, as an 

indicator of staffing pressures; 

 Concern that during lockdown teenagers had flouted the rules in locations such as 

Rishton Paper Mill and that there were times that all Police resources had been fully 

deployed, leading to lack of contingency cover; 

 A long history of Police forces fighting central Government cuts; 

 A need to retain cooperation with EU crime prevention agencies following Brexit; 

 Reallocation of scarce resources within the Lancashire Force was not a solution to 

the overall funding issue; and 

 Lancashire Constabulary had received some £22.6M funding, which was more than 

Surrey.  It was for the PCC to allocate the funding appropriately. 

 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
13 

Councillor Glen Harrison summed up by highlighting the need for an extra 600 officers, to 
satisfy people’s expectations for bobbies on the beat. 
 
After the debate, the motion was put to the vote and declared carried. 
 
Resolved - That this Council resolves to write to Kit Malthouse 

MP, Minister for Crime and Policing, to ask for a 
fairer allocation of Police resources in Lancashire. 

 
The Mayor thanked all for their attendance (virtually) and reminded Members that the next 

meeting would be held on 14th January 2021.  She wished everyone a Merry Christmas and 

a Happy New Year and expressed the hope that residents would be able to meet up 

sensibly with their wider family and friends over the festive period. 

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 11th November, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) and Munsif Dad BEM JP 

(Leader of the Council), Councillors Paul Cox, Loraine Cox and 
Jenny Molineux 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Marlene Haworth and Kath Pratt 

  

 
23 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Joyce Plummer. 
 

24 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in the Agenda 
Item 8 – COVID-19 Business Support Grants, in view of his position as a director of an 
organisation in receipt of a grant during the original lockdown and potentially eligible for a 
grant under the current lockdown arrangements. 
 

25 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 21st October 2020 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

26 Urgent Decisions Taken 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decisions taken under the urgency procedure:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(a) Change to scheme of delegation – power to 
grant licences 

Councillor J 
Plummer 

28th October 
2020 

 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

27 Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, introduced a report by Councillor 
Paddy Short, Chair of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and Councillor 
Glen Harrison, Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
on the draft work programmes for Overview and Scrutiny for 2020/21. 
 
No specific comments were made on the proposals and the draft work programmes were 
endorsed as presented. 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
At the beginning of each municipal year, the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
each agreed a work programme for the year.  The process for agreeing the work 
programme was set out in Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule C6(a), as follows: 
 
“A draft work programme will be submitted for comment to the first appropriate meeting of 
the Cabinet at the beginning of each new Municipal Year and the draft work programme for 
each overview and scrutiny committee will then be submitted to the next following meeting 
of that committee (together with any comments or recommendations from the Cabinet) for 
approval”. 
 
Due to COVID-19 related restrictions and the absence of meetings for a prolonged period, it 
had not been possible to comply with the requirements of the Constitution.  Therefore, the 
draft work programme had been agreed via email exchange between Chairs and Vice 
Chairs of Scrutiny, Cabinet Members and Corporate Management Team. 
 
A draft work programme for each of the Committees was now submitted for comment.  
Following consideration, this would be sent to both Scrutiny Committees along with any 
comments from Cabinet.  The Scrutiny Committees would then approve a full programme 
which would normally be submitted to the next meeting of Cabinet.  Due to the timings of 
meetings this year it was proposed that the Overview and Scrutiny Officer would circulate 
any comments from Cabinet to Committee members directly, with a final programme being 
approved at the November Scrutiny meetings. 
 
The work programmes had been developed following consultation including: 
 

 Multiple emails to all Councillors; 

 Suggestions sought from all service managers; and 

 Emails to Cabinet members. 

 
Several items had been suggested by Councillors.  Due to the reduced Scrutiny programme 
this year relating to the COVID-19 outbreak, all requested items could not be fit into the 
Scrutiny programme.  Therefore, the Chairs, Vice Chairs and Scrutiny Officer prioritised the 
items to be included, as follows. 
 
Resources 
 

 COVID grants to Businesses; 

 Implications of COVID on the Council’s budget; 

 Hyndburn Leisure Financial Update; 

 Budget; 

 Green Review; 

 
Commuities and Wellbeing 
 

 AED (Defibrillator) stock in Hyndburn; 

 Police and Crime Update. 

 
Items for the work programme had been selected in accordance with the established 
Criteria for Selecting Work Programme Items.  In addition, Cabinet members had been 

Page 20



 
 
 

 

 
3 

invited to a work programme meeting with the Chairs and Vice Chairs of both committees to 
put forward potential items. 
 
Members and officers had sought to provisionally allocate items to specific meetings.  
Those might be subject to change during the year, particularly where they involved the 
attendance of external and partner organisations. 
 
As in previous years, additional items could be added to the work programmes as the year 
progressed, although scope for this might be limited in the current year. 
 
There were no Alternative Options considered 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes and endorses the work 

programmes for the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees contained in the Appendix to the report. 

 
28 Reports of Cabinet Members 

 
There were no verbal reports provided on this occasion. 
 

29 Hyndburn Hub Step-Up - Presentation 
 
Members received a presentation from Lyndsey Sims (Chief Executive, Hyndburn Leisure 
and Lead Officer, Hyndburn Hub) on the step-up proposals for the Hyndburn Hub, including 
the work of the Food Solutions Network and other community providers. 
 
The presentation focused on the following: 
 

 Hyndburn Hub – the story so far; 

 Hub support provided during the first phase of shielding and the paused phase; 

 Standing up of shielding support; 

 The local picture around deprivation and need; 

 The Food Solutions Network - establishment; 

 Emergency Assistance Grant; and 

 Project outcomes for the Food Solutions Network. 

 
The Leader of the Council congratulated the community of Hyndburn on its efforts.  Staff, 
volunteers and residents alike were to be applauded.  The Hyndburn Hub had shown that it 
could step up at a time of increasing need.  Councillor Parkinson’s message to anyone in 
need was ‘to get in touch with the Hub’, which was just a phone call away.  He also 
acknowledged the Hub’s role not only in tackling the current crisis, but also in helping to 
address some of the longer term issues such as unemployment and welfare needs. 
 
Councillors Jenny Molineux and Munsif Dad BEM JP echoed the Leader’s comments and 
noted that the Hyndburn Hub brand was well respected among its peers. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the presentation on the 

Hyndburn Hub and Food Solutions Network 
 

30 COVID-19 Business Support Grants (Autumn 2020) 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, provided report which informed the 
Cabinet of new Business Grants administered locally in Autumn 2020 to provide financial 
assistance to businesses during the pandemic. 

Page 21



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 
The Leader reminded Members that Hyndburn had been praised by Government for its 
speed in handling the initial grant to the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure sectors in March and 
April 2020.  A second tranche of support had been made available in June and July 2020 
and had been paid out to those businesses that met the criteria.  The Leader also 
highlighted the current range of support available to businesses based upon 5 key grants, 
as detailed in the report. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Government had introduced widespread assistance to help businesses suffering as a 
result of the COVID 19 pandemic.  Some of the assistance was handled centrally by 
Government Departments and payments or forms of help were processed directly by civil 
servants or via other means.  However, the Government had also devised a number of 
schemes to support businesses that involved local government.  Back at the start of the 
pandemic, councils had been asked to pay large one off grants to businesses in the Retail, 
Hospitality and Leisure sectors that appeared on their business rates lists and this was 
followed in the summer with a more flexible scheme which aimed to make grant payments 
to businesses who had not received assistance under the first scheme. 
 
With escalating numbers of cases of COVID 19 in September and October 2020 the 
Government had now made a series of announcements around further support for 
businesses, some of which they had asked Councils to once more process. 
 
The Government had indicated that it intended that businesses closed under Tier 3 
restrictions would receive a grant for each two week period they were closed.  The amount 
of grant paid would depend on the rateable value of the business premises occupied.  This 
was detailed in the table below. 
 
Table 1 
 

Rateable Value Grant for 4 Week 
Period 

Less than  
£15,000 
 

£1,334 

More than  
£15,000 less  
than £51,000 

£2,000 

More than 
£51,000 
 

£3,000 

 
It was expected that businesses forced to close under the national lockdown rules that 
came into force on the 5th November 2020 would also receive a similar level of payment, 
but information at the time of writing this report had not been released. 
 
Tier 3 regulations for Hyndburn, had closed pubs and bars that did not serve substantial 
meals from the 17th October and Soft Play, Car Boot Sales, Bingo Halls, Arcades and 
Betting Shops from the 19th October.  The Council had invited applications for grant 
payments to qualifying businesses from the 4th November 2020 and the first payments were 
expected to be made the following week. 
 

Page 22



 
 
 

 

 
5 

Businesses forced to close under the national lockdown, which included non-essential 
retail, gyms, pubs and bars that served food, etc. would be able to apply to the Council for 
financial support once the Department for Business, Education and Investment provided 
details of the scheme and conditions for award of the grant. 
 
Businesses that met the Government’s definition in the Hospitality, Accommodation and 
Leisure sector of the economy and fulfilled other criteria, including that they could 
demonstrate a severe impact on their business from COVID 19, would also be able to apply 
for grant funding for the period 1st August 2020 to the 5th November 2020.  This would be 
paid at 70% of the amounts shown in Table 1 above (see Table 2). 
 
Table 2 
 

Rateable Value Grant for 4 Week 
Period 

Less than  
£15,000 
 

£934 

More than  
£15,000 less  
than £51,000 

£1,400 

More than 
£51,000 
 

£2,100 

 
In addition, the Council was due to receive funding to support those businesses from the 
Night Time economy which had remained closed by Government Order since 23rd March 
2020.  Once details of the scheme and qualifying conditions were announced the Council 
would develop an application process and appropriate businesses would be able to apply. 
 
The Council was also due to receive a share of £30m given to Lancashire to provide 
financial grants to businesses not already assisted by the schemes outlined above.  The 
details of the actual amount to be received by Hyndburn Council had not been finalised (as 
at 3rd November 2020) and local authorities had yet to receive details from the Government 
around the qualifying requirements for the payment of the grant.  Once this was received 
the Council would develop an application process and businesses would be notified of the 
scheme requirements and how to apply. 
 
In a number of the grant areas funding would be limited to a specific period of time or might 
have to be withdrawn when the amounts provided by Government to fund the scheme were 
exhausted.  There would be strict conditions imposed to help minimise the potential for 
fraud and extensive cross-checking of data would take place between the Council and other 
Government Departments including HMRC to determine the validity and accuracy of 
information provided by applicants.  In relation to some of the grants it might be necessary 
to determine a priority system on which to make the award, in addition to any other criteria 
required. 
 
The Council’s intention was to make payments as quickly as possible to businesses once 
the authority had the full criteria and funding from the Government and could process 
payments in a financially robust way that prevented fraud and other abuse. 
 
There were no Alternative Options considered 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the report on the COVID-19 

Business Support Grants available in Autumn 2020. 

Page 23



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
31 Financial Position September 2020 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2021 

 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, introduced a report from Councillor 
Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, on the Financial Position as at September 
2020 and the financial forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2020/21.   
 
The Leader highlighted the extra costs of helping out businesses and the community, 
expenditure to keep staff safe at work and changes to the Council’s income brought on by 
customers’ altered behaviour and their own financial circumstances.  He commented that 
additional expenditure of almost £1m was due to the pandemic.  But for the virus, the 
Council would have had a healthy surplus at year end.  The Council had been rigorous 
about its finances since 2004/05.  The anticipated overspend was notable this year, but did 
not require significant remedial action.  The figures would continue to be refined as the year 

progressed. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 6 months of the financial year to the end of September 2020 was 
£6,894,000 compared to a Budget of £6,522,000 giving an adverse variance of £372,000 
over the first 6 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2020 was £12,193,000 
compared to a Budget of £11,227,000.  This forecast produced an adverse variance of 
£966,000 by the end of the financial year.  The adverse variance across the Council was 
attributable to the impact of COVID 19 on the Council’s overall financial position requiring it 
to spend additional sums to address the impact of the pandemic while at the same time 
suffering a reduction in its income due to the downturn in economic activity stemming from 
the pandemic. 
 
The predicted level of variance against the Budget could be managed within the Council’s 
overall reserves. 
 
The report included more detailed commentary about expenditure in the following service 
areas. 
 

 Environmental Services; 

 Culture and Leisure Services; 

 Planning and Transportation; 

 Regeneration and Property Services; 

 Policy and Corporate Governance; and 

 Non-service items. 

 
The figures for service areas included estimated losses in income due to the pandemic, 
less additional specific Government funding to help offset some of the losses incurred.  
Overall, the authority had estimated a loss across the Council of £1,048,000 and had 
assumed that the Government would provide a grant of £582,000 to offset those losses.  
The estimate was based around the Government guidance issued in this area, but as yet 
the Government had not confirmed the amounts to be given to Councils, so these figures 
were subject to confirmation and revision and once they were known they could move 
upwards or downwards as a consequence. 
 

Page 24



 
 
 

 

 
7 

The estimates around expenditure necessary to fight COVID 19 were subject to more 
uncertainty than in the normal forecasting of expenditure, given the unprecedented 
demands and changing nature in this area and, therefore, these forecasts were subject to 
larger variance than usual within a local authority Budget. 
 
The forecasts had also been compiled before the Government’s announcement of the latest 
lockdown on the 31st October 2020.  Updates to spending and income forecast as a 
consequence of the new lockdown would be incorporated into the next monthly update. 
 
The authority expected a substantial increase in the non-payment of Council Tax and 
Business Rates, as well as a large rise in the numbers of Council Tax Support Claimants 
due to the pandemic.  Due to the statutory requirements around accounting for these 
transactions the losses in these areas this year would not manifest themselves until future 
years’ budgets.  Discussions at a national level were underway to agree a means of 
spreading the losses in these areas over the next 3 years, rather than having to take the full 
financial hit in 2021/22. 
 
The Government had potentially indicated that it would ensure all Tier 3 Councils were able 
to balance their 2020/21 and 2021/22 Budgets and, therefore, funding might be available to 
reduce the adverse variance to zero by the end of the year.  However, at this stage no 
details had been provided around this potential extra financial support that might be 
available and, therefore, this funding was not included within this Budget forecast.  The 
level of adverse variance would need to be funded from existing reserves if this extra 
funding did not materialise. 
 
There were no Alternative Options considered 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the report on the financial 

position as at September 2020 and asks Corporate 
Management Team to continue to reduce costs and 
increase income over the remaining months of the 
financial year. 

 
32 Test and Trace Support Payments Scheme 

 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, introduced a report from Councillor 
Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, on the Test and Trace Support Payments 
Scheme. 
 
The Leader outlined the purpose of the scheme, which was to compensate those who 
would lose income as a result of a positive COVID test or contact with an infected person 
and to allay the fears of those who might be reluctant to undertake a test because of their 
financial situation.  The scheme was administered by local councils and there were strict 
rules about who would be eligible for payment.  Claimants must have been told to self-
isolate by the NHS and must have a relevant NHS Track and Trace reference number.  The 
claimant must also be on state benefits, but there was some discretion permitted to 
councils, if the person was not on benefits.  The mandatory scheme was fully funded by 
government, but the discretionary element was capped. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 

Page 25



 
 
 

 

 
8 

The Government had introduced the Test and Trace Support Payments Scheme to support 
individuals who were told on or after the 28th September 2020 to self-isolate by NHS Test 
and Trace. 
 
To support residents on a low income and to increase rates of self-isolation, from the 28th 
September 2020, individuals were entitled to a Test and Trace Support Payment of £500 if 
they: 
 
(a) Had been told to stay at home and self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, either because 

they had tested positive for coronavirus or had recently been in close contact with 
someone who had tested positive, and; 

(b) Were employed or self-employed, and; 
(c) Were unable to work from home and would lose income as a result, and; 
(d) Were currently receiving Universal Credit, Working Tax Credit, income-based 

Employment and Support Allowance, income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance, Income 
Support, Housing Benefit and/or Pension Credit. 

 
Test and Trace Support payments were designed to support people on low incomes, if they 
would lose income as a result of self-isolating, and to encourage them to get tested if they 
had symptoms.  This was important to help stop the transmission of COVID-19 and avoid 
further economic and societal restrictions. 
 
Low income for the purpose of this scheme was based on the Government’s benefit cap 
rates as detailed below:- 
 

Couple – Joint income £384.62 £20,000 per year 

Single parent and children reside with you £384.62 £20,000 per year 

Single Adult £257.69 £13,400 per year 

 
 
The Test and Trace Support scheme had commenced on the 28th September 2020 and 
local authorities had been required to have arrangements in place to administer payments 
by 12th October 2020.  Provision for backdated claims for the period 28th September up to 
and including the 11th October had been included in the scheme.  The scheme would last 
until 31 January 2021. 
 
The Government had provided funding to support local authorities in implementing the Test 
and Trace Support Payments scheme.  This included administrative costs and costs of the 
payments made under the scheme.  
 
In total, the UK Government had provided £50 million for the Test and Trace Support 
Payments and corresponding discretionary payments.  This funding was meant to cover the 
four months of the scheme until 31 January 2021.  Hyndburn’s funding allocation was 
detailed below.  Early indications suggested the funding estimated by Government was not 
adequate. 
 

Main Scheme £44,500 

Discretionary Payments £26,877 

Administration payment £26,621 

 
 
The Main Scheme fund was subject to reconciliation, which meant that if demand exceeded 
the authority’s allocation then the Government would make a top up payment.  Equally, if 
the authority used less than its allocation, this would have to be returned. 

Page 26



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 
Both the Administration costs and the Discretionary Payment fund were for a four month 
fixed period and would not be topped up or subject to a reconciliation process. 
 
The report included further details in relation to the following:- 
 

 Discretionary scheme; 

 Impact of support payments on Council Tax Support entitlement; 

 Projected demand; 

 Fund allocations made to date; and 

 Applications received to date and scheme administration. 

 
There were no Alternative Options considered 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes that the Test and Trace Support 

Payments Scheme was approved by Urgent Council 
Decision on the 9th October 2020, ready for 
implementation on Monday 12th October 2020. 

 
33 DFT Statutory Guidance - Proposed amendments to the Taxi & Private Hire Licensing 

Policy 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, introduced a report from Councillor 
Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, advising Members about new Statutory 
Guidance introduced by the Secretary of State for Transport relating to taxi and private hire 
licensing.  The report also sought approval of a new training programme for new applicants 
and approval to commence a consultation process relating to other proposed changes to 
the Taxi and Private Hire Policy. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP, indicated that the matter had been discussed at the Taxi 
Liaison Committee and that overall its members had been very supportive of the changes.  
There were a number of changes which would be of benefit both to the taxi drivers and to 
their customers. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
In July 2020 the Department for Transport (DFT) had issued new statutory guidance to 
licensing authorities responsible for the issuing of licences and regulating those in the taxi 
and private hire industry.  The guidance set out taxi and private hire vehicle standards.  The 
guidance stated that 'the Department has carefully considered the measures contained in 
the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and recommend that these should be 
put in to practice and administered appropriately to mitigate the risk posed to the public.  
The purpose of setting standards is to protect children and vulnerable adults, and by 
extension the wider public, when using taxis and private hire vehicles.' 
 
The DFT had stated that the Statutory Guidance had been issued because 'there is 
evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a high-risk 
environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse and exploitation of 
children and vulnerable adults facilitated and in some cases perpetrated by the trade and 
the number of sexual crimes reported which involve taxi and private hire vehicle drivers.  
Links between the trade and child sexual abuse and exploitation have been established in 
many areas and other investigations continue.  Data on reported sexual assaults by taxi 

Page 27



 
 
 

 

 
10 

and private hire vehicle drivers evidence the risk to passengers; data from Greater 
Manchester and Merseyside suggest that, if similar offence patterns are applied across 
England, 623 sexual assaults per year are reported.  These figures do not however account 
for the under-reporting of crime which is estimated to be as high as 83 percent in the Crime 
Survey for England and Wales.' 
 
The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enabled the Secretary of State for Transport to issue 
statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private hire vehicle licensing functions to protect 
children and vulnerable individuals who were over 18 from harm when using these services.  
For the purposes of this document, a child was defined as anyone who had not yet reached 
their 18th birthday; and the term “vulnerable individual” had the same meaning as the 
definition of a ‘vulnerable adult’ for the purpose of section 42 of the Care Act 2014, which 
applied where a local authority had reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area 
(whether or not ordinarily resident there):  
 
(a) had needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of those 

needs),  
(b) was experiencing, or was at risk of, abuse or neglect, and  
(c) as a result of those needs was unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or 

neglect or the risk of it.  
 
Further, the guidance went on to say 'whilst the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards is on protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will 
benefit from the recommendations contained in it.  There is consensus that common core 
minimum standards are required to regulate better the taxi and private hire vehicle sector, 
and the recommendations in this document are the result of detailed discussion with the 
trade, regulators and safety campaign groups.  The Department therefore expects these 
recommendations to be implemented unless there is a compelling local reason not to.' 
 
The report set out details as to the legal implications of the guidance for public authorities, 
including the requirement to have regard to that guidance.  The report concluded that on 
the whole Hyndburn Borough Council's Policy aligned quite well with the new guidance.  
Members were reminded that in October 2018, the Council had adopted the Institute of 
Licensing (IOL) Policy on determining the suitability of applicants in the hackney carriage 
and private hire trade and the DFT had consulted with the IOL and had adopted the same 
convictions policy. 
 
The report referred to the specific amendments needed to the Council’s policy to bring it 
totally in line with the new guidance and the need for local consultation on the changes.  
The report also included information on relevant training. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council did not have any alternative options other than to have regard to the DFT 
Statutory Guidance and to follow the guidance unless there were exceptional reasons not to 
do so. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet approves the introduction of the 

updated training programme in line with DFT 
requirements. 

 
(2) That Cabinet approves the commencement of an 8 

week consultation period relating to other proposed 
changes to the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy. 

Page 28



 
 
 

 

 
11 

 
34 Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan and Delivery Strategy 

 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, provided an update 
to Cabinet on progress with the Huncoat Garden Village (HGV) Masterplan and Delivery 
Strategy.  She indicated that there had been changes to the original timescale for the 
project and highlighted the revised timescale within the report, which was as follows:- 
 

 Conclude option development and testing – end of November 2020 

 Conclude preferred final Masterplan – end of December 2020 

 Cabinet to consider preferred final Masterplan – January 2021 

 
The Leader commented that the Masterplan related to the Borough’s key housing site for 
the next 20 years and that it was important to get the preparations stages right.  The 
Masterplan complemented the Employment Land report presented at the previous Cabinet 
meeting.  Both employment and good quality housing were needed to drive the prosperity 
of the Borough.  The views of residents would be listened to throughout this process and 
factors such as provision for schools and transport infrastructure would be carefully 
considered. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Cabinet had previously given its approval to put in place the Huncoat Garden Village 
Masterplan and Delivery Strategy (the Masterplan), recognising the Huncoat area had a 
major housing growth opportunity for the Borough. 
 
On 15th January 2020, Cabinet had received a progress report on the Masterplan that had 
outlined a timescale to conclude the Masterplan over the summer of 2020.  Unfortunately, 
the Coronavirus (Covid-19) had slowed progress, especially between March and July.  
Nevertheless, progress continued to be made. 
 
Progress on the key stages could be summarised as follows: 
 
i) Evidence Base and Baseline Report – completed.  Additional work also concluded: 

 Ecology report – A supplementary ecology study and report recognising that 

Huncoat had some key habitats and wildlife including a significant butterfly habitat. 

 Highway report – A supplementary highway study and report to better understand 

the impact of housing growth on the Huncoat road network.  The report identified 

trigger points for the implementation of highway improvements and new highway 

infrastructure to support the delivery and distribution of new housing within the 

emerging Masterplan area. 

 
ii) Option Development and Testing 

 Original Option Testing: 

o Minimum growth option – circa 1,000 new homes plus 5 hectares (ha) of 

employment land - Completed 

o Medium growth option – circa 1,500 new homes plus 10ha of employment 

land - Completed 

o Maximum growth option – circa 2,000 new homes plus 12.7ha of 

employment land - Completed 

 Additional Housing only option Testing: 

Page 29



 
 
 

 

 
12 

o Minimum emerging Local Plan Housing Only Option – circa 1,100 new 

homes – near completion 

o Medium Housing Growth Option – circa 1,500 plus new homes – near 

completion  

 Additional Studies in support of the Housing only options: 

o Consultation Report on the principle of a housing only option - complete 

o Development Site Matrix – complete  

o Phasing Plan – complete 

o Viability Analysis Report – near completion  

 
iii) Preferred Final Masterplan (November – December 2020) 
 
iv) Masterplan Finalised and Considered by Cabinet for Approval (January 2021) 
 
The initial option testing had considered three mixed employment and housing development 
proposals for Huncoat, but had concluded on a predominantly housing proposal for 
Huncoat Garden Village for the following reasons: 
 

 A combined housing and employment scheme was far less viable; 

 Local Plan review – employment land could be provided elsewhere in the Borough; 

 Significant employment uses could undermine the core garden village principles; 

and  

 Resident consultation. 

 
Subsequently, two housing only options were being developed before deciding on the 
preferred Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan.  This work was near completion and had 
been supported by additional studies including highway interventions, individual site 
analysis, viability and delivery analysis, and a phasing plan. 
 
Due to the ongoing Coronavirus pandemic, the high level timescale for concluding the 
Masterplan remained under constant review. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Masterplan had been subject to option development and analysis as part of the Option 
Development process as described in the report.  Three mixed housing and employment 
options had been considered and two housing only options were now being considered, 
before concluding on a preferred Masterplan option for Huncoat Garden Village. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet notes and welcomes the progress 

made to finalise the Huncoat Garden Village 
Masterplan and Delivery Strategy, including a major 
opportunity for housing growth in the Borough. 

 
(2) That Cabinet notes the revised high level timetable 

to conclude the Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan 
and Delivery Strategy as set out in paragraph “3.5” 
of the report. 

 
35 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the 

Page 30



 
 
 

 

 
13 

public be excluded from the meeting during the following 
items, when it was likely, in view of the nature of the 
proceedings that there would otherwise be disclosure of 
exempt information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A 
of the Act specified at the item. 

 
36 Sale of Land on the east side of Park Road, Balfour Street, Great Harwood, BB6 7RW 

 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, approval was given by 
Councillor Glen Harrison, Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, to the following decision being made by Cabinet on 11th November 2020 in 
private, on the grounds that the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be deferred. 
 
An appropriate notice under Regulation 5(7) had been made available for public inspection 
and published on the Council’s website prior to the meeting. 
 
Reason for Urgency 
 
To enable the sale of land to progress without undue delay, thereby supporting new 
housing development in the Borough 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, outlined the content 
of the report seeking approval for the sale of land on the east side of Park Road, Balfour 
Street, Great Harwood, BB6 7RW. 
 
The Leader of the Council provided clarification as to the name of the company purchasing 
the site, which was as per the second sentence in Paragraph 2.1 of the report (not the 
parent company identified in the preceding sentence).  Councillor Miles Parkinson outlined 
some of the benefits of the planned development and, in response to questions by 
Councillor Marlene Haworth, commented on the intention to provide good quality housing.  
He indicated that any considerations around potential availability of s.106 monies would be 
dealt with through the planning process. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report, subject to the clarification provided above by 
the Leader of the Council as to the name of the 
purchaser company, be approved. 

 
 

Page 31



 
 
 

 

 
14 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 32



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 9th December, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox (Vice 

Chair), Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Jenny Molineux 
 

Apologies: Councillor Joyce Plummer 
 

 
78 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Joyce Plummer. 
 

79 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP declared a personal interest in the Agenda Item 6 – Revised 
Cemetery Regulations, in view of that fact that his wife was buried in part of one of the plots 
referred to in the report. 
 
There were no reported dispensations. 
 

80 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 11th November 2020 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

81 Urgent Decisions Taken 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decisions taken under the urgency procedure:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(a) Great Harwood Bike Park – request to issue a 
letter of intent in relation to negotiations for a 
25 year lease at a peppercorn rent 

Cllr L Cox 16th November 
2020 

(b) Department of Business, Energy & Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS) – Local Restrictions Support 
Grants (Open) Autumn 2020 

Cllr M 
Parkinson 
OBE 

25th November 
2020 

 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

82 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
There were no verbal reports provided on this occasion. 
 

83 Revised Cemetery Regulations 
 

Page 33



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council, provided a report seeking approval from 
Cabinet to implement revised cemetery regulations relating to the Borough’s four 
cemeteries. 
 
Councillor P Cox highlighted the following issues detailed in the report:- 
 

 That the regulations had last been updated in 1996 and the time was now right to 

provide an update; 

 The changes took account of greater customer choice, such as the availability of 

memorial trees; and 

 The changes also reflected the high levels of service provide by the Cemeteries 

Team. 

 
Councillor Dad BEM JP thanked Councillor P Cox and the Cemeteries Team for their work.  
Great care had been taken to get the new Regulations right, for example by consulting the 
families of loved ones whose remains were buried at Rishton and Great Harwood 
Cemetery.  The Leader of the Council commented that the report demonstrated how the 
Council looked after the deceased with dignity and kept families informed.  It was also 
pleasing to note that Accrington Cemetery was the holder of a Green Flag award. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Cemetery regulations set out how burial grounds would be managed and maintained by the 
relevant burial authority, what was permitted and the standards expected. 
 
The existing regulations did set out detailed standards for the Borough’s cemeteries, which 
meant that the cemeteries were maintained to a high standard, with Accrington Cemetery 
attaining and holding a Green Flag award for the last 8 years. 
 
There was an expectation that the standards in the revised cemetery regulations should 
keep the Borough cemeteries maintained to the same high standards, so that they 
remained a respectful and dignified final resting place for families to bury their loved ones. 
 
The current cemetery regulations had last been reviewed in 1996 and since then a number 
of new products had been brought into the cemetery service portfolio and a new cemetery 
had been opened in 2018.  Therefore, it was now considered appropriate to review the 
regulations to ensure they were up to date. 
 
Since the current regulations had been introduced in 1996 the Council now offered the 
purchase of memorial trees in its cemeteries and in Rishton and Great Harwood cemetery, 
which opened in 2018, the Council offered a natural burial area.  These items were missing 
from the current regulations and had been added to the revised regulations. 
 
Since the current regulations had been introduced in 1996 there had been a number of 
requests from customers wanting to have the choice of graves with kerb edgings on the 
body of the grave.  The current regulations required all the Borough cemeteries to be lawn 
cemeteries and as such kerbs were not permitted on new graves. 
 
In response to this customer request, the revised regulations would allow for kerbs (for all 
denominations) to be installed on new graves on two plots in Rishton and Great Harwood 
Cemetery.  These plots would be for kerb graves only, to allow staff to continue to maintain 
the cemetery to a high standard.  Standard lawn graves would also be available for all 

Page 34



 
 
 

 

 
3 

denominations within Rishton and Great Harwood Cemetery.  The three other Borough 
cemeteries would remain as lawn cemeteries only. 
 
Once either of the plots used for kerb graves were full, a review would be undertaken to 
establish whether permitting kerb graves had been a success.  A report would be presented 
to Cabinet at that point to decide whether it wished to continue with this policy. 
 
The Council had declared a climate change emergency, therefore, the revised cemetery 
regulations prohibited the release of sky lanterns and balloons from within the Borough 
cemeteries, due to their impact on the environment. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
An option not to implement the revised cemetery regulations had been rejected, as the 
current cemetery regulations had last been reviewed in 1996. 
 

Resolved (1) That Cabinet adopts the revised cemetery 
regulations. 

 
(2) That the revised cemetery regulations come into 

force on 1 April 2021. 
 
(3) That Cabinet delegates authority to the Deputy 

Head of Environmental Services, in consultation 
with the relevant Portfolio Holder, to arrange for 
the implementation of the revised cemetery 
regulations. 

 
84 Disabled Facilities Grants - Purchasing of Stairlifts and Lifting Equipment via 

Framework Award 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, provided report 
which informed Cabinet on changes to the procurement and ordering of lifting equipment for 
Disabled Facilities Grants.  The report also sought approval to enter into a contract with 
Stannah Lift Services Ltd. under the Northern Housing Consortium Procurement 
Framework for a period of 5 years (with the option of a 1 year extension). 
 
Councillor L Cox highlighted the following issues detailed in the report:- 
 

 The report dealt with the technical requirements following a decision by Lancashire 

County Council no longer to procure, supply and maintain stairlifts; 

 There was a requirement to follow the necessary EU rules for procurement; 

 The Council would need to procure stairlifts, potentially in a climate of uncertainty 

following Brexit; 

 The proposal was to use the Northern Housing Consortium (NHC) Framework, 

which would allow a smooth transition to the new arrangements; and  

 The proposals would result in the appointment of the current contractor Stannah Lift 

Services Ltd. 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 

Page 35



 
 
 

 

 
4 

The delivery of Disabled Facilities Grants was a mandatory function of the Council.  They 
were delivered under the powers of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration 
Act 1996.  Since April 2015, Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) funding was included within 
the Better Care Fund (BCF) paid by Department of Communities and Local Government.  
This was paid annually to Lancashire County Council (LCC) who then distributed the 
funding to the Lancashire District Councils. 
 
LCC had for many years procured the supply, installation and maintenance of stair lifts and 
other specialist lifting equipment and allowed local authorities to use the contracts they 
procured, free of charge.  This Council had used the LCC contract following Cabinet 
Approval to do so in 2007.  
 
LCC had recently decided they would no longer procure the supply and maintenance of 
new equipment or the maintenance of new equipment and had passed this back to the 
district local authorities to arrange.  However, LCC would continue to maintain all lifts 
installed up to 30th November 2020. 
 
The estimated contract value of £250,000 (and £1.5 million over a six year contract term) 
meant that European Union (EU) rules applied to the procurement.  EU procurement was a 
lengthy and potentially complex process.  However, it was possible and desirable to use a 
procurement framework to satisfy the EU procurement regime. 
 
Framework arrangements were popular within the Public Sector as they represented a 
'smarter' way of purchasing, rather than placing 'one-off' orders.  Utilising a framework 
could save significant time and money, whilst still delivering a service specified to local 
requirements, and supporting local decision making and accountability.  In summary, a 
framework could deliver many benefits, including:- 
 

 Fast, efficient, easy to use OJEU compliant procurement frameworks that removed 

the need to undertake costly and time-consuming full OJEU procurement 

processes; 

 Significant reduction in procurement timescale from six-nine months to as little as 4 

weeks; 

 Reduced procurement costs; 

 Robust agreements resulting from thorough professional due diligence; 

 Pre-agreed terms and conditions – Funds simply ‘call off’ the framework to meet 

their requirements; 

 Detailed and easy to use guides, support and templates; 

 Frameworks were based on large volume buying; 

 Reduced transaction costs; 

 Long-term relationships; 

 Performance measurement systems – designed to encourage continuous 

improvement and to verify that public money was being used wisely; and 

 Better Social Value and Greater Community Wealth. 

 
The Council was a member of the Northern Housing Consortium (NHC) and through this 
membership was able to access a range of frameworks that the Consortium had 
established via its procurement function called “Consortium Procurement (CP)”.  This 
included a range of housing, property and social related procurement frameworks and 
covered the Hyndburn Local Authority geographical area.  It offered frameworks which were 
in line with public procurement rules and Government legislation and policy.  
 

Page 36



 
 
 

 

 
5 

The proposed framework had been advertised in accordance with EU rules when it had 
been set up and, therefore, the use of the framework by the Council satisfied the 
requirements imposed on the Council under the EU procurement regime. 
 
The Regeneration & Property Team, who oversaw the DFG programme, had used 
frameworks provided by the CP for facilities management work and had looked closely at 
the frameworks to supply and maintain stair lifts and specialist lifting equipment.  The 
Regeneration & Property Manager and the Regeneration Manager were both satisfied that 
this met the needs of the Council’s customers and EU, National and HBC procurement 
regulations.  Other neighbouring Districts were already successfully using the same 
framework to install and maintain this type of equipment.  Having looked at the options in 
the groups of work tendered by CP, called Lots, there was an opportunity to use a single lot 
via a direct award, i.e. no further tendering required to the highest ranking stair lift 
contractor, who at this time was Stannah Lift Services Ltd. 
 
The contract tender had been advertised under the EU procurement rules back in 2018 and 
8 Invitation to Tender (ITT) responses in total had been received by the NHC from the 
following bidders:- 
 

 Care and Independence; 

 Handicare Accessibility Ltd; 

 Hill Rom Ltd; 

 Innova Care Concepts; 

 Prism Medical UK; 

 Stannah Lift Services Ltd; and 

 Wealden Rehab Ltd. 

 
Lot 1 of this tender process met all the needs for the supply and installation of stair lifts or 
other lifting equipment, in addition to providing maintenance for 5 years, 24 hour emergency 
call out and repair service, repairs up to £500 in value and replacement parts due to normal 
wear and tear. 
 
The Warranty period mirrored the 5 year DFG funding rules, whereby if the lift needed to be 
replaced after 5 years,  the resident could apply for a new stair lift and would be covered for 
another 5 years for repairs and maintenance, subject to the terms and conditions of the 
warranty. 
 
The Council could cancel the contract at any time with the preferred supplier if there were 
issues of non-performance.  CP used Key Performance Indicators that monitored quality, 
costs and customer care.  The direct award contract could only be given to the highest 
ranking stair lift contractor as part of this process, currently Stannah Lift Services Ltd.  This 
contractor also had a proven track record on delivering DFG adaptations on stairlifts, as 
they had been awarded the contract under LCC’s previous contract.  Accordingly, the 
Council already had a well-established, good working relationship with them, which should 
mean a seamless transition for the Borough’s DFG applicants. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The benefits of using a framework were described in the report, and far out-weighed 
alternative tendering arrangements.  Other options considered and rejected included: 
 

 Option 1 was to get 2 separate quotes for each stairlift or piece of lifting equipment 

that was required.  This had been rejected as it would be more time consuming for 

the officers and contractors to provide quotes, wait for a tender period to elapse, 

Page 37



 
 
 

 

 
6 

then progress the works and also would mean that the applicant was waiting longer 

for the equipment whilst the Council was awaiting the 2 visits and 2 quotes.  In 

addition, during Covid, home visits should be reduced to a minimum.  Furthermore, 

costs were likely to be significantly higher. 

 

 Option 2 was for the Council to carry out its own tendering exercise and procure a 

contractor to deliver the lifting equipment.  This had been rejected due to the 

timescale and cost and because the Northern Housing Consortium Framework 

already met EU procurement requirements and was available for Local Authorities, 

including Hyndburn Borough Council, to participate in free of charge and Lot 1 met 

the needs of the Council’s customers as well as those of the authority. 

 
There was a wide range of stairlift providers, however this was a critical service where first 
and foremost the Council was required to comply with EU procurement rules, but also had 
to ensure delivery of the most cost effective, quality equipment and service for disabled 
households. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves entering into a 5 year (with 

the option of a 1 year extension) contract with 
Stannah Lift Services Ltd. to design, supply, test, 
service and maintain specialist lifting products 
using the Northern Housing Consortium’s 
Procurement Framework. 

 
85 Financial Position October 2020 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2021 

 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, introduced a report from Councillor 
Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, on the Financial Position as at October 
2020 and the financial forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2020/21. 
 
The Leader highlighted the following issues in connection with the report:- 
 

 An adverse variance of just less than £1M the end of the financial year caused by 

additional expenditure due to COVID-19 and the Council’s response; 

 The largest factor was the support required by Hyndburn Leisure Trust, which under 

normal circumstances would require only around £75k per year to supplement the 

£2M income it raised.  However, the Trust’s income in 2020/21 had been decimated 

by the pandemic, leading to a deficit of around £900k.  The Council represented the 

only viable source of funds to bridge that gap.  However, it was possible that the 

Government might make funds available to the Council for this purpose; 

 A formal decision would need to be taken before the end of the year about the 

amount of support required for the Trust to stay afloat; 

 Overall, the Council was containing its expenditure well and would make use of 

additional Government support and any surpluses from within the Budget; 

 The situation remained volatile and winter pressures might yet emerge; 

 Further clarity was expected around the levels of Government funding to be made 

available moving forward; and 

 The Council remained in a sound financial position with a good level of reserves 

available. 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 

Page 38



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Reason for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 7 months of the financial year to the end of October 2020 was 
£6,347,000 compared to a Budget of £7,775,000 giving a positive variance of £1,429,000 
over the first 7 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2020 was £12,146,000 
compared to a Budget of £11,227,000.  This forecast produced an adverse variance of 
£919,000 by the end of the financial year.  The adverse variance across the Council was 
attributable to the impact of COVID-19 on the Council’s overall financial position, requiring it 
to spend additional sums to address the impact of the pandemic while at the same time 
suffering a reduction in its income, due to the downturn in economic activity stemming from 
the pandemic. 
 
The predicted level of variance against the Budget could be managed within the Council’s 
overall reserves. 
 
The report included more detailed commentary about expenditure in the following service 
areas. 
 

 Environmental Services; 

 Culture and Leisure Services; 

 Planning and Transportation; 

 Regeneration and Property Services; 

 Policy and Corporate Governance; and 

 Non-service items. 

 
The figures for service areas included estimated losses in income due to the pandemic less 
additional specific Government funding to help offset some of the losses incurred.  Overall, 
the Council had estimated a loss across the authority of £1,002,000 and had assumed the 
Government would provide a grant of £550,000 to offset those losses.  The estimate was 
based around the Government guidance issued in this area.  This process was subject to 
further review and a year-end reconciliation under the Government’s rules around this 
grant, so the figures were subject to confirmation and revision.  Once they had been 
confirmed, potentially only after the financial year end, they could move upwards or 
downwards as a consequence. 
 
The estimates around expenditure necessary to fight COVID-19 were subject to more 
uncertainty than in the normal forecasting of expenditure, given the unprecedented 
demands and changing nature in this area and, therefore, these forecasts were subject to 
larger variance than usual within a local authority Budget. 
 
The Council expected a substantial increase in the non-payment of Council Tax and 
Business Rates, as well as a large rise in the numbers of Council Tax Support Claimants 
due to the pandemic.  Due to the statutory requirements around accounting for these 
transactions, the losses in these areas this year would not manifest themselves until future 
years’ budgets.  Discussions at a national level were underway to agree a means of 
spreading the losses in these areas over the next 3 years, rather than having to take the full 
financial hit in 2021/22.  Full details were expected to be published at the time of the Local 
Government Settlement in late December and officers would assess the overall financial 
impact on the Council once this was known. 
 
The Government had potentially indicated that it would ensure all Tier 3 Councils were able 
to balance their 2020/21 and 2021/22 Budgets and, therefore, funding might be available to 

Page 39



 
 
 

 

 
8 

reduce the adverse variance to zero by the end of the year.  However, at this stage no 
details had been provided around the potential extra financial support that might be 
available and, therefore, this funding was not included within this Budget forecast.  The 
level of adverse variance would need to be funded from existing reserves if the extra 
funding did not materialise. 
 
There were no Alternative Options considered 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the report on the financial 

position as at October 2020 and asks Corporate 
Management Team to continue to reduce costs and 
increase income over the remaining months of the 
financial year. 

 
86 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following items, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
87 Urgent Decisions Taken 

 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decisions taken under the urgency procedure:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(a) Climate Emergency Actions – Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme and appointment of 
consultants 

Cllr M 
Parkinson 
OBE 

30th November 
2020 

 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

88 Project Phoenix 1D 
 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information). 
 
In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, approval had been 
given by Councillor Paddy Short, Chair of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, to the following decision being made by Cabinet on 9th December 2020 in 
private, on the grounds that the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be deferred. 
 

Page 40



 
 
 

 

 
9 

A notice had also been published in accordance with Regulation 10(1)(b) of the above 
Regulations that the matter was a key decision being considered under the General 
Exception procedure and Councillor Short had been notified accordingly. 
 
Reason for Urgency 
 
Progress needed to be made quickly to minimise the potential risks to the funding available, 
which had to be fully expended by the end of March 2021. 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, outlined the content 
of the report which sought technical variations to the Phoenix 1D project, following the 
approvals made at the Cabinet meeting on 21st October 2020.  Councillor Dad BEM JP 
reiterated the comments he made at the earlier Cabinet meeting in support of this scheme, 
which was long awaited.  He thanked the Head of Regeneration and Housing Services and 
the Team for their hard work. 
 
Approval of the report was a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
JUDICIAL COMMITTEE (PRIVATE HIRE AND HACKNEY 

CARRIAGE LICENSING) 
 

 
Wednesday, 25th November, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Melissa Fisher (in the Chair), Councillors Diane Fielding (Vice 

Chair), Stewart Eaves, Terry Hurn, Dave Parkins and Marlene Haworth 
 

Apologies Sara Britcliffe MP and Joyce Plummer 

  

 
63 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Plummer and Britcliffe.  
 
Councillors Parkins and Marlene Haworth acted as substitute representatives for Councillor 
Plummer and Councillor Britcliffe, respectively. 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

64 Minutes of Last Meeting held on 18th March 2020 
 
The Minutes of the last meeting of the Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney 
Carriage Licensing) held on 18th March 2020 were submitted for approval as a correct 
record.   

Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 
record. 

 
65 Licensing Procedure for Meetings of the Committee 

 
The General Licensing Procedure to be followed at the meeting in relation to hackney 
carriage and private hire drivers’ and operators’ licences was submitted.  A copy had been 
sent to the licence holder. 

Resolved - That the Procedure be noted. 
 

66 Licensing Guidelines 
 
The Institute of Licensing Policy for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades was 
submitted, which was used to assist the Committee when determining the suitability of 
applicants and licensees in the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades.  A copy of the 
Guidance had been sent to the licence holder. 

Resolved - That the Guidance be noted. 
 

67 Exclusion of the Public 
 

Resolved - That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted, or 

Public Document Pack

Page 43

Agenda Item 8.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

the nature of the proceedings, that there would 
otherwise be disclosure of exempt information within 
the Paragraphs at Schedule 12A of the Act specified at 
the item. 

 
 

68 Consideration of a Grant of a Private Hire Operator's Licence 
 
(Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 1 – 
Information relating to any individual) 
 
The Licensing Manager, on behalf of the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services), submitted a report outlining an application for a private hire operator’s licence by 
the applicant (AH). 
 
In accordance with the licensing procedure, the applicant (AH) had been invited to attend 
the meeting and told of his right to be represented but requested that the hearing be heard 
in his absence. 
 
The Committee was informed that the applicant had not declared relevant and accurate 
information on his application form.  A copy of the application form was attached as at 
appendix 1.  A copy of an email from the Licensing Manager providing the applicant with a 
second opportunity to disclose relevant information was attached as at appendix 2.  A copy 
of an email outlining the applicant’s response to the discrepancy was attached as at 
appendix 3. 
 
The Committee was requested to consider the matters contained within the report to 
determine whether the applicant was a fit and proper person to be licensed. 
 
Decision of the Committee:- 
 
Resolved - That, as the applicant (AH) was not considered to be a 

‘fit and proper person’, the application for private hire’s 
operator’s licence be refused for the reasons outlined at 
the meeting and set out in the decision notice. 

 
 

69 Consideration of an Existing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Joint Driver's 
Licence 
 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 1 – 
Information relating to any individual) 
 
The Licensing Manager, on behalf of the Executive (Legal and Democratic Services), 
submitted a report informing the Committee of relevant issues relating to a licensed private 
hire and hackney carriage driver (SK).  Members were asked to consider matters contained 
in the report and any representations made by the applicant and their representative.  The 
complaint and following documents were relevant to the case and included for 
consideration along with details of his driving convictions, his failure to notify the Council of 
these convictions and his failure to wear his driver’s badge whilst working:-  
 
A complaint from a customer received on 13th August 2020. 
Appendix 1  - copies of emails from the applicant  
Appendix 2 -  - a copy of a representation submitted by the applicant on 1st October 

denying the allegations.     

Page 44



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 
In accordance with licensing procedure, the driver (SK) and his representative had been 
invited to attend the meeting and both were present.   
 
The Committee was requested to consider the issues outlined above and:- 
 
(a)  Determine whether the complaint was true; 
 
(b)  Having made a finding of the facts, decide whether those facts revealed if the driver 
had acted in any way which would bring into doubt his suitability to hold a driver’s licence 
with the Authority; and  
 
(c)  Determine what action, if any, should be taken against the driver.  
 
 
Resolved - That as the conduct of the driver (SK) had not been that 

expected of a licensed hackney carriage and private hire 
driver, the Committee, having taken into consideration 
the driver’s past history of motoring offences and a 
conviction and the submission of a complaint against 
the driver, found the driver not to be a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence and that the joint licence be 
revoked. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 14 January 2021 

REPORT AUTHOR: Julian Joinson, Head of Member Services 

TITLE OF REPORT: Motions for Debate at Council -  

1. Skipton to Colne Rail Line 
2. UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
3. Cuts to Universal Credit 
4. Drain Clearing in Hyndburn 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication: N/A 

 
The Council will be asked to consider the following motions submitted under Council 
Procedure Rule A9, as amended by Section 10 of the Remote Meetings Procedure Rules:- 
 
1. Skipton to Colne Rail Line 
 
This Council for a number of years has supported the reopening of the Skipton to Colne rail 
line and resolves to write to the Department of Transport to reiterate its support for this project 
and ask that Government uses the approval as a key part of the Government’s ‘levelling up’ 
agenda. 
 
This project will not only open up the rail network in the North but improves East - West 
connectivity on a congested rail network.  
 
The line will drive economic and social mobility in East Lancashire and provide a boost to 
some of the most deprived communities.  
 
We have seen the benefits of the Todmorden Curve to Hyndburn and East Lancashire and 
the Council recognise that the Skipton to Colne rail link will have a similar impact 
 
Proposer: Cllr Noordad Aziz 
Seconder: Cllr Dave Parkins 
 

Submitted on 29th December 2020 
 
2. UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
 
That this Council with some urgency seeks clarification of the Government’s intentions to roll 
out the UK Shared Prosperity Fund which is intended to replace EU funding from comparative 
sources.  To quote the Government’s own words: The planned fund will target the places 
most in need across the UK, the Treasury document said, including ex-industrial areas, 
deprived towns and rural and coastal communities, and “help to level up and create 
opportunity across the UK for people and places”. 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9.



 

The paper said: “It will support people and communities, opening up new opportunities and 
spurring regeneration and innovation.” 
 
The scheme will provide support in areas including investment in employment and skills 
training, cultural and sporting facilities, and community-owned assets. 
 
This Council notes that whilst the voluntary sector currently receives some £500 million 
annually from this fund, the UKSPF has just been delayed until 2022 with no interim 
measures announced yet.  That this Council instructs the Chief Finance Officer to direct local 
voluntary groups serving Hyndburn to whatever funding streams are available. 
 
Proposer Cllr Tim O’Kane 
Seconder Cllr Dave Parkins 
 

Submitted on 30th December 2020 
 
3. Cuts to Universal Credit 
 
This Council notes: 
 

 Next April the Government plans to cut the benefit level for millions of claimants by ending 
the time limited increase to the basic rate of Universal Credit (and the tax credit 
equivalent) announced by the Chancellor on 20th March as part of his pandemic 
response package. 

 The £20 a week boost reflected the reality that the level of benefits were not adequate to 
protect the swiftly increasing number of households relying on them as the crisis hit. 
Exactly because that increase was a very significant and welcome move to bolster low- 
and middle-income families' living standards, its removal will be a huge loss, impacting 
Hyndburn residents unfairly at an already difficult time. 

 The increase in benefits has had a positive effect on the lives of thousands of Hyndburn 
claimants who are better able to pay for life’s essentials such as food, clothing and 
utilities. 

 The local economy has also benefited from the increase in benefit levels as claimants 
spend their money locally thereby supporting local businesses and jobs. 

 We believe pressing ahead would see the level of unemployment support fall to its lowest 
real-terms level since 1990-91, and its lowest ever relative to average earnings.  Indeed, 
the basic level of out-of-work support prior to the March boost was – at £73 a week 
(£3,800 a year) – less than half the absolute poverty line. 

 We resolve that this Council resolves to write to the Chancellor, Rishi Sunak and to the 
Prime Minister, Boris Johnson demanding that the £20 increase to Universal Credit is 
made permanent and extended to claimants on legacy benefits. 

 We resolve to work with other local government organisations to form a coalition to 
pressure the Government to make the £20 increase to Universal Credit permanent. 

 
Proposer Cllr Glen Harrison 
Seconder Cllr Paul Cox 
 

Submitted on 31st December 2020 
 
 

Page 48



 

4. Drain Clearing in Hyndburn 
 
Many roads in Hyndburn suffer poor drainage which causes hazardous driving conditions on 
Hyndburn roads. 
 
As councillors we report blocked gullies with regularity only to find that the standard of works 
performed is inefficient and quite often offers no improvement whatsoever in remedying the 
issue of flooding. 
 
One such road is Lottice Lane in Hyndburn between Britannia Inn on Haslingden Old Road 
and King Edward Pub at Guide. 
 
This road is a main cut through for many Oswaldtwistle residents to access Royal Blackburn 
Hospital.  It is a very fast road with visibility issues at certain points.  This road is quite simply 
flooded often even in light rain.  As the weather grows colder conditions on this road will only 
worsen, I requested added storm drains in this area however as yet this has not occurred. 
 
Hyndburn Council resolves to write to Highways Department at Lancashire County Council, 
requesting that a full and urgent review is undertaken regards the state of Lancashire’s gullies 
and review the effectiveness of their interventions when clearing drains. 
 
Presently the system employed by Conservative controlled Lancashire County Council is 
simply not efficient and a waste of taxpayers’ money. 
 
Proposer Cllr Glen Harrison 
Seconder Cllr Stephen Button 
 

Submitted on 31st December 2020 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Confirmation of Minutes
	Minutes

	7. Minutes of Cabinet
	Cabinet Minutes - 9th December 2020

	8. Minutes of Committees
	Minutes

	9. Motion(s) submitted on Notice

